
          

 

 

CAPRON TRAIL 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

ST. LUCIE COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

JUNE 19, 2023 
1:30 P.M. 

 

 

 

 

 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.caprontrailcdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

CAPRON TRAIL 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Premier Citrus 
14885 Indrio Road 

Ft. Pierce, Florida 34945 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

June 19, 2023 
1:30 p.m. 

 
 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication…………………………………………………………………………………….Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Additions or Deletions Agenda 

E. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

F. Approval of Minutes 

1. April 17, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes…………………………...................................Page 3 

G. Old Business 

H. New Business 

1. Consider Letter from the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission Requesting 
the District Conduct a Local Public Hearing Pursuant to section 190.005(1)(b), F.A.C.………..Page 7 
 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-03 – Ratifying Prior Authorization Regarding 
District Boundary Amendment and Setting a Public Hearing on Petition to 
Amend the Boundary of the District …………………………………………………………….Page 53 

I. Engineer’s Report  

J. Attorney’s Report  

K. Field Maintenance Report 

L. Administrative Matters 

1. Financial Report.............................................................................................................................Page 55 

M. Board Members Comments 

N. Adjourn 



Page 1



Page 2



Page 1 of 4 
 

 
CAPRON TRAIL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
APRIL 17, 2023 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
District Manager Frank Sakuma called the April 17, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the Capron 
Trail Community Development District (the “District”) to order at 1:36 p.m. at the offices of 
Premier Citrus, 14885 Indrio Road, Fort Pierce, Florida 34945.   
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Mr. Sakuma presented proof that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been published in the 
St. Lucie News Tribune on October 7, 2022, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Regular 
Meeting Schedule, as required by law. 
 
D. ESTABLISH QUORUM 
 
Mr. Sakuma stated that the attendance of Supervisors Tom Jerkins, David Bass and Randy Weaver 
constituted a quorum and it was in order for the meeting to proceed. 
 
Also in attendance were: Mike Cofer of Premier Citrus; District Manager Frank Sakuma of Special 
District Services, Inc.; District Engineer Tom McGowan, P.E. of AECOM; Attorneys Dan Harrell 
and Susan Garrett of Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & Rubin, P.A. 
 
C. CONSIDER RESIGNATION & APPOINTMENT TO BOARD VACANCY 
 
Mr. Sakuma notified the Board of the resignation of Mr. Weaver and asked if there were any 
nominations for his replacement.  Mr. Jerkins offered the name of Mike L. Cofer as a nominee. 
There were no other nominations.  There was a motion appointing Mike Cofer to the Seat 4 
vacancy, made by Mr. Jerkins, seconded by Mr. Bass and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
D. ADMINISTER OATH OF OFFICE AND REVIEW BOARD MEMBER DUTIES 

AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Mr. Sakuma administered the oath of office to Mr. Cofer and explained generally the duties and 
responsibilities of a Board Supervisor. He advised further information would be sent to Mr. Cofer 
related to the Supervisor of Elections and other forms.  Mr. Cofer took his seat on the Board and 
the meeting continued. 
 
F. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
G. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

Page 3



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
There were no comments from the public for items not on the agenda. 
 
H. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
1. November 21, 2022, Regular Board Meeting  

The November 21, 2022, Regular Board Meeting minutes were approved, as presented, on a 
motion made by Mr. Bass, seconded by Mr. Cofer.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
I. OLD BUSINESS 

 
There were no Old Business items to come before the Board. 

 
J. NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Consider Approval and Ratification of Annual Impoundment Inspection 
 
Mr. Sakuma explained why the annual impoundment inspection proposal was signed in advance 
of the meeting and asked for Board approval and ratification of that action. The Annual 
Impoundment Inspection Agreement was approved and ratified, as presented, on a motion made 
by Mr. Bass, seconded by Mr. Cofer.  The Board also noted the “draft inspection report” must 
come to the Board prior to sending to the water management district.  
 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-01 – Changing the Registered Agent and Registered 
Office 

 
Mr. Sakuma presented Resolution No. 2023-01, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-01 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CAPRON 
TRAIL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CHANGING THE 
REGISTERED AGENT AND REGISTERED OFFICE FOR THE 
DISTRICT; PROVIDING FOR FILING WITH ST. LUCIE COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, AND THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC 
OPPORTUNITY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
There was a motion adopting Resolution No. 2023-01, as presented, made by Mr. Bass, seconded 
by Mr. Cofer and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-02 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
Proposed Budget 

 
Mr. Sakuma presented Resolution No. 2023-02, entitled: 
 

Page 4



Page 3 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-02 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE CAPRON 
TRAIL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPROVING A 
PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
There was a motion adopting Resolution No. 2023-02, as presented, setting the Public Hearing for 
July 17, 2023, made by Mr. Bass, seconded by Mr. Cofer and the motion carried unanimously. 
  
K. ENGINEER’S REPORT 
 
Mr. McGowan had nothing further to report.  
 
L. ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
There was no Attorney’s Report at this time. 

 
M. FIELD MAINTENANCE REPORT 
 

1. Fuel Tank: The above ground storage/fuel tank was properly registered and insurance was 
being obtained.  
 

2. South Reservoir: Work continues with long stick around the south reservoir. 
 

3. Wetlands: Helicopter treatment of the wetlands should happen around mid-June and run 
about $10,000.  

 
N. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1.  Financial Report: Mr. Sakuma briefly went over the Financial Report included in the 
Board package. 

 
O. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further Board comments.  
 
P. ADJOURN 
 
Mr. Sakuma advised the next meeting was scheduled for May 15th.  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 
2:09 p.m.  There were no objections. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Page 4 of 4 
 

__________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Secretary       Chairman 

Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



From: Johnson, Jonathan T.
To: Frank Sakuma
Cc: Magee, Kyle M.
Subject: FW: Capron Trail CDD - Boundary Amendment Petition
Date: Wednesday, June 7, 2023 8:08:27 AM

Frank
 
Can you include this in the agenda package also.  It is the only written thing we have that they did
not hold their hearing.
 
 
 
Jonathan T. Johnson
Partner
Kutak Rock LLP
107 W. College Avenue,Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 692-7301 (Direct) | (850) 264-6882 (Mobile)
(850) 692-7300 (Main)  | (850) 692-7319 (Facsimile)
Jonathan.Johnson@KutakRock.com
www.KutakRock.com
 
 
 
 

From: Daniel McIntyre <MCIND@stlucieco.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 16, 2023 10:05 AM
To: Jusevitch, Karen F. <Karen.Jusevitch@KutakRock.com>
Cc: Johnson, Jonathan T. <Jonathan.Johnson@KutakRock.com>
Subject: RE: Capron Trail CDD - Boundary Amendment Petition
 

[ CAUTION - EXTERNAL SENDER ]

 
FYI- the BCC voted today to not hold a public hearing on the petition.  The Board did ask that I
emphasize the Board’s position that any CDD in the County provide disclosures to potential
purchasers of property within the CDD of the existence of the CDD and the CDD’s ability to assess
and tax properties within the District.  Thank you.
 

From: Jusevitch, Karen F. <Karen.Jusevitch@KutakRock.com> 
Sent: Friday, May 5, 2023 10:33 AM
To: Daniel McIntyre <MCIND@stlucieco.org>
Cc: Johnson, Jonathan T. <Jonathan.Johnson@KutakRock.com>
Subject: Capron Trail CDD - Boundary Amendment Petition
 

SECURITY WARNING: This email originated from outside the County systems. Please show

Page 51



caution when clicking links or opening attachments unless you recognize the sender and
know the content is safe.
 
Good morning,
Attached please find an electronic version the Petition to Amend the Boundary of the Capron Trail
Community Development District.  A hard copy of the petition is being delivered to your offices
today.
Please let us know if you have any questions or need any further information.
Thank you,
Karen
 
Karen F. Jusevitch
Paralegal
 

Kutak Rock LLP

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Karen.Jusevitch@KutakRock.com
p: 850.692.7300   d: 850.692.7312  f: 850.692.7319

 

This E-mail message is confidential, is intended only for the named recipients above and may contain
information that is privileged, attorney work product or otherwise protected by applicable law. If
you have received this message in error, please notify the sender at 402-346-6000 and delete this E-
mail message. 
Thank you.

Please Note: Florida has very broad public records laws. Most written communications to or from County officials regarding County
business are public records available to the public and media upon request. It is the policy of St. Lucie County that all County records
shall be open for personal inspection, examination and / or copying. Your e-mail communications will be subject to public disclosure
unless an exemption applies to the communication. If you received this email in error, please notify the sender by reply e-mail and delete
all materials from all computers.

Page 52



RESOLUTION 2023‐03 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE CAPRON 
TRAIL  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  RATIFYING  PRIOR 
AUTHORIZATION  REGARDING  DISTRICT  BOUNDARY 
AMENDMENT; SETTING THE PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PETITION 
TO  AMEND  THE  BOUNDARY  OF  THE  DISTRICT  AND 
AUTHORIZATION  TO  PUBLISH  NOTICE  OF  SUCH  HEARING; 
PROVIDING  A  SEVERABILITY  CLAUSE;  AND  PROVIDING  AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
  WHEREAS, the Capron Trail Community Development District (“District”)  is a  local unit 
of special‐purpose government established pursuant to the Uniform Community Development 
District Act of 1980, as codified  in Chapter 190, Florida Statutes,  for the purpose of planning, 
financing, constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, on March 21, 2022, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) voted 
unanimously to authorize the expansion of the District’s boundary; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 5, 2023, Premier Citrus, L.L.C., a Florida limited liability company and 

owner of the majority of real property within the (“Petitioner”), petitioned the Florida Land and 
Water Adjudicatory Commission (“FLWAC”) to amend the District boundaries;  

 
WHEREAS,  FLWAC  has  directed  the  Board  to  hold  the  public  hearing  thereon  in 

accordance with section 190.005(1)(d), Florida Statutes; and  
 
  WHEREAS, the public hearing must be published once a week  for  four  (4) consecutive 
weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in St. Lucie County; and  
 

WHEREAS,  the Board desires  to  ratify  the authorization of  the boundary amendment 
process and set the public hearing thereon. 

 
NOW,  THEREFORE,  BE  IT  RESOLVED  BY  THE  BOARD  OF 
SUPERVISORS  OF  THE  CAPRON  TRAIL  COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
  SECTION 1.  RATIFICATION  OF  BOUNDARY  AMENDMENT  AUTHORIZATION.    The 
authorization  to seek amendment of  the District’s boundary and acceptance of  the boundary 
amendment process is hereby ratified.  
 
  SECTION 2.  SETTING PUBLIC HEARING AND AUTHORIZING PUBLISHED NOTICE.  The 
Public  Hearing  to  consider  the  petition  to  amend  the  District’s  boundary  will  be  held  on 
______________,  2023,  at  ______  _.m.,  at 

Page 53



______________________________________________.    The District  Secretary  is  directed  to 
publish notice of the hearing in accordance with section 190.005(1)(d), Florida Statutes. 
 
  SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.    The  invalidity  or  unenforceability  of  any  one  or more 
provisions  of  this  Resolution  shall  not  affect  the  validity  or  enforceability  of  the  remaining 
portions of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 
 
  SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.   This Resolution shall take effect upon  its passage and 
adoption by the Board. 
 
 
  PASSED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of June, 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST:            CAPRON TRAIL COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________      ________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary       Chair/Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 54



  Capron Trail
Community Development District

     Financial Report For
  May 2023

Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58


	Capron Trail Community Development District - June 19, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	April 17, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Consider Letter from the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission Requesting the District Conduct a Local Public Hearing Pursuant to section 190.005(1)(b), F.A.C.
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-03 – Ratifying Prior Authorization Regarding District Boundary Amendment and Setting a Public Hearing on Petition to Amend the Boundary of the District
	Financial Report




